
1

City of Kelowna
Public Hearing

AGENDA

Tuesday, July 30, 2013

6:00 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

THE CHAIR WILL CALL THE HEARING TO ORDER:

1.(a)The purpose of this Hearing is to consider certain bylaws which, if adopted, shall

amend Kelowna 2030 - Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 and Zoning Bylaw

No. 8000.

(b)All persons who believe that their interest in property is affected by the proposed

bylaws shall be afforded a reasonable opportunity to be heard or to present written

submissions respecting matters contained in the bylaws that are the subject of this

hearing. This Hearing is open to the public and all representations to Council form part

of the public record. A live audio feed may be broadcast and recorded by Castanet.

(c)All information, correspondence, petitions or reports that have been received

concerning the subject bylaws have been made available to the public.The

correspondence and petitions received after July 16, 2013 (date of notification) are

available for inspection during the course of this hearing and are located on the

information table in the foyer of the Council Chamber.

(d)Council debate on the proposed bylaws is scheduled to take place during the

Regular Council meeting after the conclusion of this Hearing. It should be noted,

however, that for some items a final decision may not be able to be reached tonight.

(e)It must be emphasized that Council will not receive any representation from the



2

applicant or members of the public after conclusion of this Public Hearing.

2. Notification of Meeting

The City Clerk will provide information as to how the Hearing was publicized.

3. Individual Bylaw Submissions

3.1 Bylaw No. 10864 (OCP13-0013), Bylaw No. 10865 (Z13-0021) & Bylaw No.
10866 (Road Closure) - 459 Groves Avenue and 437 & 442 Newsom Avenue,
P218 Enterprises Ltd.

5 - 31

To amend the Official Community Plan (OCP) future land use designation for
the subject lands at 459 Groves Avenue and 437 & 442 Newsom Avenue from
MRM - Multiple Unit Residential (Medium Density) to MXR - Mixed Use
(Residential/Commercial) (per Map A1) and to rezone the subject properties
from the RU1 - Large Lot Housing zone to the C4 - Urban Centre Commercial
zone (per Map B1) in order to facilitate the development of a surface parking
area to serve the mixed-use SOPA Square development located directly east at
2986-3030 Pandosy Street; To close a portion of road (laneway) in the vicinity
of 459 Groves Avenue and 437 & 442 Newsom Avenue for sale to, and
consolidation with, the adjacent properties;

3.2 Bylaw No. 10869 (OCP13-0009), Bylaw No. 10870 (Z13-0015) &  Bylaw No.
10845 (Road Closure) - 434, 442 & 458 Royal Avenue, Interior Health Authority

32 - 69

To amend the Official Community Plan Future Land Use Designation from
Single/Two Unit Residential to Educational/Major Institutional and to rezone
the subject properties from the RU1 - Large Lot Housing zone to the P1 -
Major Institutional zone in order to accommodate the proposed surface
parking lot in support of the KGH Emergency Centre; The excess closed road is
to be consolidated with the properties between 442 Royal Avenue and 458
Royal Avenue in order to consolidate one contiguous parcel consisting of 434,
442 & 458 Royal Avenue, along with the road closure area, for the purpose of
a parking lot.

4. Termination

5. Procedure on each Bylaw Submission

(a) Brief description of the application by City Staff (Land Use Management);

(b) The Chair will request that the City Clerk indicate all information,
correspondence, petitions or reports received for the record.



3

(c) The applicant is requested to make representation to Council regarding the
project and is encouraged to limit their presentation to 15 minutes.

(d) The Chair will call for representation from the public in attendance as follows:

(i) The microphone at the public podium has been provided for any person(s) wishing
to make representation at the Hearing.

(ii) The Chair will recognize ONLY speakers at the podium.

(iii) Speakers are encouraged to limit their remarks to 5 minutes, however, if they
have additional information they may address Council again after all other members
of the public have been heard a first time.

(e) Once the public has had an opportunity to comment, the applicant is given an
opportunity to respond to any questions raised. The applicant is requested to keep
the response to a total of 10 minutes maximum.

(f) Questions by staff by members of Council must be asked before the Public Hearing
is closed and not during debate of the bylaw at the Regular Meeting, unless for
clarification.

(g) Final calls for respresentation (ask three times). Unless Council directs that the
Public Hearing on the bylaw in question be held open, the Chair shall state to the
gallery that the Public Hearing on the Bylaw is closed.

Note: Any applicant or member of the public may use visual aids (e.g. photographs,
sketches, slideshows, etc.) to assist in their presentation or questions. The computer
and ELMO document camera at the public podium are available. Please ask staff for
assistance prior to your item if required. 



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: July 3, 2013 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Land Use Management, Community Sustainability (AR) 

Application: Z13-0021 & OCP13-0013 Owner: 
P 218 Enterprises Ltd.,     
Inc. No. 0852875 

Addresses: 
459 Groves Avenue                  
437 & 442 Newsom Avenue  

Applicant: Meiklejohn Architects Inc. 

Subject: Rezoning & Official Community Plan Amendment Applications 

Existing OCP Designation: MRM – Multiple Unit Residential (Medium Density) 

Proposed OCP Designation: MXR – Mixed Use (Residential/Commercial)  

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: C4 – Urban Centre Commercial 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

That Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP13-0013 to amend Map 4.1 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, by changing the Future Land Use 
designation of Lot 14, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 3856, except Plan KAP90797, located at 459 
Groves Avenue, Kelowna, BC; Lot 11, Block 2, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 4743, except Plan 
KAP90797, located at 437 Newsom Avenue, Kelowna, BC; and Lot 19, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 
3856, except Plan KAP90797, located at 442 Newsom Avenue, Kelowna, BC from the MRM – 
Multiple Unit Residential (Medium Density) designation to the MXR – Mixed Use (Residential/ 
Commercial) designation, as shown on Map “A1” attached to the Report of Land Use Management 
Department dated July 3, 2013, be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT Rezoning Application No. Z13-0021 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by changing the zoning classification of Lot 14, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 3856, except 
Plan KAP90797, located at 459 Groves Avenue, Kelowna, BC; Lot 11, Block 2, District Lot 14, 
ODYD, Plan 4743, except Plan KAP90797, located at 437 Newsom Avenue, Kelowna, BC; and Lot 
19, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 3856, except Plan KAP90797, located at 442 Newsom Avenue, 
Kelowna, BC from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the C4 – Urban Centre Commercial zone, 
as shown on Map “B1” attached to the Report of Land Use Management Department dated July 3, 
2013, be considered by Council; 
 

4



Z13-0021 & OCP13-0013 – Page 2 

 
 

AND THAT Council considers the applicant’s June 25, 2013, Public Information Session to be 
appropriate consultation for the purpose of Section 879 of the Local Government Act, as outlined 
in the Report of the Land Use Management Department dated July 3, 2013; 
 
AND THAT the Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment Bylaw and the Zone Amending Bylaw 
be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction with 
Council’s consideration of a Development Permit and Development Variance Permit for the 
subject properties; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered following registration of a 
No Build Section 219 Restrictive Covenant, in favour of the City of Kelowna, against the titles of 
the subject properties in the Land Titles Office, to restrict the use of the subject properties for 
an accessory surface parking area to serve the adjacent development at 2986-3030 Pandosy 
Street; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the zone amending bylaw be considered subsequent to completion of 
a Purchase/Sale Agreement with the City, and registration of Road Closure adjacent to Lot 14, 
District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 3856, except Plan KAP90797 (459 Groves Avenue); Lot 11, Block 2, 
District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 4743, except Plan KAP90797 (437 Newsom Avenue); and Lot 19, 
District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 3856, except Plan KAP90797 (442 Newsom Avenue), to the satisfaction 
of the City of Kelowna, in the Land Titles Office; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Divisional Director of Community Planning and Real Estate for the co-op/car 
share program, as attached to the Report of the Land Use Management Department dated July 3, 
2013, being completed to his satisfaction; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch, as attached to the Report of the Land Use 
Management Department dated July 3, 2013, being completed to its satisfaction. 

2.0 Purpose  

This application seeks to amend the Official Community Plan (OCP) future land use designation 
for subject lands at 459 Groves Avenue and 437 and 442 Newsom Avenue from MRM – Multiple 
Unit Residential (Medium Density) to MXR – Mixed Use (Residential/Commercial) (per Map A1) and 
to rezone them from RU1 – Large Lot Housing to C4 – Urban Centre Commercial (per Map B1), to 
facilitate the development of a surface parking area to serve the mixed-use SOPA Square 
development, located directly east at 2986–3030 Pandosy Street.  

3.0 Land Use Management  

The subject properties are located in the South Pandosy Urban Centre area. The proposal to 
designate the properties to MXR – Mixed Use (Residential/Commercial), consistent with the SOPA 
Square development site at 2986-3030 Pandosy Street and the Cedar Avenue parcels located 
directly to the south, is generally congruent with the intent of the 2030 Official Community Plan 
(OCP) to encourage vibrant urban centres with a healthy compliment of commercial uses to serve 
the surrounding broad community. The proposed use of the subject site for accessory parking is 

5



Z13-0021 & OCP13-0013 – Page 3 

 
 

expected to assist with securing and supporting commercial uses in the SOPA Square development 
and, by extension, in the South Pandosy Urban Centre area as a whole.  

The C4 – Urban Centre Commercial zone is considered to be the most appropriate zone for the 
subject properties, and is likewise consistent with the SOPA Square development site with which 
the properties will be consolidated should Council grant approval to the proposed applications. As 
a condition of adoption of the proposed zoning, staff recommend that a no build section 219 
restrictive covenant be required to be registered on the title(s) for the subject site, to ensure its 
use as an accessory parking area serving the adjacent SOPA Square development, and that it does 
not later become subject to commercial redevelopment.  

Under the C4 zone in the South Pandosy Urban Centre, there is opportunity for additional density 
on a development site, up to 0.84 FAR, where all required parking spaces are below natural 
grade and where there is provision of a co-op/car sharing program. This bonusing provision was 
applied to the SOPA Square development under the 2008 Development Permit approval. In 
following through on this obligation, the proponent proposes to allocate two (2) surface parking 
spaces on the subject site for exclusive co-op/car share use. As a condition of adoption of the 
proposed zoning, it is recommended that the proponent provide legal confirmation of the 
provision of at least one (1) co-op/car share vehicle and one (1) parking space for its exclusive 
use on the subject development site, for a minimum three (3) year period.  

To summarize, while from a strictly Planning perspective it is not ideal to need to amend the 
original approval for the mixed-use development to provide additional surface parking at the rear 
of the building, thereby exceeding the maximum permitted for commercial parking, the financial 
and market circumstances specific to this development are nonetheless acknowledged in this 
unique case.  Of key consideration is that the proposal will be delivering on the project’s original 
intent with the provision of a pedestrian-oriented retail mews at the rear laneway, for which 
there is a high expectation for quality landscaping and finishing (including street trees), as well 
as the original commitments to green roof and co-op/car share program. Equally important is the 
proposed, generous landscape buffer of 5.2m-6.5m along the west property line adjacent to the 
single-family neighbourhood to facilitate the use transition and mitigate impacts.  

These key design components ― the pedestrian-oriented retail mews framed by storefronts and 
street trees at the rear lane, and the substantive residential landscape buffer ― and their 
importance to extending and transitioning the mixed-use momentum of the SOPA Square 
development to the surrounding area are significant reasons in favour of supporting the proposed 
variances. Should Council approve the proposal at Public Hearing, the details of these key 
aspects of the proposal will be further refined in the accompanying Development Permit 
application, presently under review, and advanced for Council consideration in conjunction with 
the adoption of the zoning and OCP amending bylaws. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

In October 2008, City Council approved Development and Development Variance Permit 
applications for the SOPA Square development at 2896-3030 Pandosy Street. The approved 
16,990 m2 mixed-use development is comprised of a 2-storey commercial podium at grade, with a 
4-storey townhouse component above at the south end of the podium and a 9-storey apartment 
building component above at the north end. The development anticipates a comprehensive 
commercial programme with commercial units accessible via street frontages and an extensive 
internal courtyard area, as well as the extension of commercial units along the rear laneway as a 
pedestrian-friendly retail mews. As originally approved, all parking for the residential and 

6



Z13-0021 & OCP13-0013 – Page 4 

 
 

commercial components of the development (214 spaces) was to be provided underground, in a 
parking facility under the subject development and accessed from the rear lane. Additionally, 
commitments for provision of green roof and a co-op/car share program were secured through 
certain bonusing provisions of the underlying C4 zone.                           

A Building Permit was subsequently issued in August 2010 for construction of the 2-storey 
commercial podium and underground parking, which is presently under construction with tenant 
improvements underway.  

The subject properties at 459 Groves Avenue and 437 and 442 Newsom Avenue are presently 
being used for construction staging to support construction activities on the east adjacent SOPA 
Square site, as permitted under Temporary Use Permit TUP10-003 approved by Council in March 
2011.  

4.2 Project Description 

The proponents of the SOPA Square development are proposing to develop a surface parking area 
on the three subject properties at 459 Groves Avenue and 437 and 442 Newsom Avenue, located 
immediately west and across the rear lane from the SOPA Square development site at 2986-3030 
Pandosy Street, to serve the commercial component of the development, and to address the 
lease requirements of prospective retail and office tenants. While the originally approved mixed-
use development was to provide all parking ― for the residential and commercial components ― 
entirely underneath the development, the proponents have subsequently encountered challenges 
in securing certain commercial tenancies needed to support the viability of the project without 
the ability to offer a certain quantity of directly accessible surface parking. To facilitate the 
proposal for accessory surface parking, the Zoning application proposes to rezone the subject 
properties from RU1 – Large Lot Housing to C4 – Urban Centre Commercial (see Map ‘B1’), and 
the Official Community Plan (OCP) Amendment application proposes to change the future land 
use designation from MRM – Multiple Unit Residential (Medium Density) to MXR – Mixed Use 
(Residential/Commercial) (see Map ‘A1’).  

The proposed parking area includes 58 parking spaces (including 2 co-op/car share spaces) with 
landscape buffers of varying dimension around the perimeter of the subject site. A generous 
landscape buffer of approximately 5.2m–6.5m is proposed along the west side property line, 
providing approximately 75%-120% more landscape setback than required under the Zoning 
Bylaw, adjacent to the existing residential area. This landscape buffer is intended to provide a 
substantive transition to the adjacent single-family residences, and will include a mix of fencing 
and landscaping in order to achieve privacy and mitigate potential noise, light, and odour 
impacts. A modest variance is being sought for the east side landscape buffer (adjacent to the 
SOPA Square development) to accommodate the present proposal for street trees and 
landscaping within the rear laneway, as well as to achieve the widened west side landscape area. 
A variance is also being sought for the rear (south) landscaped buffer.  

The proposed 58 surface parking spaces, when added to the existing 101 underground commercial 
parking spaces, increases the total number of commercial parking spaces for the development to 
159 spaces, and requires a variance to the zoning requirement that restricts the maximum 
number of permitted parking spaces for a use class to 125% of the minimum required. As such, a 
variance is proposed to allow the provision of 45 additional commercial parking spaces at surface 
beyond the maximum permitted. The residential parking is provided entirely within the 
underground parking area, and conforms to minimum and maximum bylaw requirements. 

7



Z13-0021 & OCP13-0013 – Page 5 

 
 

The original vision of the rear laneway area as a “pedestrian-friendly, retail mews” is retained 
and enhanced under the subject proposal. The laneway will be designed with upgraded paving 
materials and lined by street trees and landscaping to create an inviting space for pedestrian 
movement and enjoyment. A substantive landscaped island, or plaza, will also be incorporated 
opposite the building’s main rear entrance to draw pedestrians into the building’s interior 
courtyard, and to create a place of pedestrian interest with an attractive seating area. Overall 
vehicular use of the laneway will be reduced from the original concept, as it will be restricted to 
the one-way movement of service vehicles only.   

A Development Permit (DP) application to amend the original 2008 Development Permit approval 
for the subject proposal has been received and is presently under review, as is a Development 
Variance Permit (DVP) application for the previously identified variances. Should Council approve 
the proposal at Public Hearing, the DP and DVP applications would be subsequently advanced for 
Council consideration in conjunction with the adoption of the zoning and OCP amending bylaws.  

A Road Closure application is also presently being processed concurrently to facilitate the subject 
proposal, and would see a portion of the rear lane east adjacent to the subject properties closed, 
as well as the portions of Newsom Avenue and the lane between Newsom and Groves Avenues 
within the site’s boundaries. Through this process, the necessary agreements will be registered 
on title to ensure access to underground utilities and public access through the site. To address 
some neighbour concerns for potential traffic exiting west through the residential 
neighbourhood, it is proposed to narrow the Newsom Avenue parking area entrance to the 
minimum dimension of 6m through landscaped “bulb outs” to encourage traffic to exit via the 
north or south accesses to Pandosy Street. 

The project compares to Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA C4 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

The following 3 criteria are relative to the proposed, new consolidated lot (i.e., proposed surface 
parking area): 

Parking 
Setbacks 

 

Front (North) - 2.0m 
Rear (South) – 1.5m 
 Side (West) – 1.5m 
 Side (East) – 1.5m 

Front (North) - 3.0m 
Rear (South) – 2.0m 
 Side (West) – 5.2m-6.5m 
 Side (East) – 1.5m 

Landscape 
Buffers 

Front (North) – 3.0m  
Rear (South) – 3.0m or Opaque Fence 
Side (West) – 3.0m 
Side (East) – 3.0m 

Front (North) – 3.0m  
Rear (South) – 2.0m 
Side (West) – 5.2m–6.5m 
Side (East) – 2.5m 

Landscape 
Island Area 

120m² Approx. 140m² 

The following 2 parking criteria are relative to proposed parking for the entire SOPA Square site: 

Parking Spaces 
Commercial (1.75 per 100m2):    91  
Residential (1 per unit):             99  
Total:                                       190   

Commercial: 101 underground & 58 surface 
Residential:  112 underground  
Total:           271     

Max. Parking 
Spaces 

Commercial (125% x 91 spaces): 114 
Residential (125% x 99 spaces):  124 

Commercial: 159 
Residential:  112   

8



Z13-0021 & OCP13-0013 – Page 6 

 
 

 Vary rear yard landscape buffer from 3.0m required to 2.0m proposed. 

 Vary side (east) yard landscape buffer from 3.0m required to 2.5m proposed. 

 Vary maximum permitted commercial parking from 114 spaces permitted to 160 proposed.  

Public Consultation and Feedback 

In fulfillment of Council Policy #367: Public Consultation and Notification for Development 
Applications, the proponent undertook notification of surrounding neighbours and property 
owners, and hosted a Public Information Meeting on June 25th, 2013 (see attached Neighbourhood 
Consultation Summary Report).  

A few concerns have been raised by some local residents through the review process, notably 
nearby neighbours, regarding the proposed surface parking area, which include: 

 increased traffic on Groves and Newsom Avenues, in the intervening residential lane, and 
on Abbott Street; 

 lack of sidewalk along Groves and Newsom Avenues for safe pedestrian movement from 
Abbott Street; and 

 mitigation of noise, light, odour, and safety impacts for adjacent residences. 
 

Notwithstanding the subject proposal, the overall density and commercial floor area approved for 
the project is not proposed to change, and as such, it is not anticipated that there would be 
furthered traffic impacts. To address the concern, however, it is proposed that Newsom Avenue 
be narrowed to the minimum 6m dimension through landscaped “bulb outs” to encourage 
vehicles to use the parking area’s north and south entries for direct access to Pandosy Street.  

Frontage upgrades including sidewalk will be required along Groves Avenue in front of the 
subject development site. Sidewalks in the surrounding area will be constructed on an 
incremental basis, as redevelopment for multi-unit residential occurs. Finally, in consideration of 
a transition to the west adjacent residential area, the proposal includes a sizably increased 
landscape buffer of 5.2m–6.5m along the west property line. The details will be refined through 
the corresponding Development Permit application but, in principle, the design of the 
landscaping and fencing will be expected to mitigate impacts and promote safety for adjacent 
properties.  

4.3 Site Context 

The subject site is comprised of three properties at 459 Groves Avenue and 437 and 442 Newsom 
Avenue and located in the South Pandosy Urban Centre area. Through a Road Closure application, 
portions of the adjacent laneways and Newsom Avenue are proposed to be closed and 
consolidated with the three properties. The consolidated site will be hooked to the SOPA Square 
property located directly east at 2986-3030 Pandosy Street across the rear laneway. The 
surrounding area to the west is characterized by single-family housing, with future land use 
designations of MRM – Multiple Unit Residential (Medium Density) and MXR – Mixed Use 
(Residential/Commercial), per the below included “Subject Property Map”. 

  

  

9



Z13-0021 & OCP13-0013 – Page 7 

 
 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU1 – Large Lot Housing Single Family Residential 

East C4- Urban Centre Commercial Mixed Use & Commercial 

South RU1 – Large Lot Housing Single Family Residential 

West RU1 – Large Lot Housing Single Family Residential 

 

Subject Property Map: 459 Groves Avenue and 437 and 442 Newsom Avenue  

 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

Staff recommends that the applicant’s June 25, 2013 Public Information Session be considered 
appropriate consultation for the purpose of Section 879 of the Local Government Act, and that 
the process is sufficiently early and does not need to be further ongoing in this case. 
Furthermore, additional consultation with the Regional District of Central Okanagan, other 
boards, councils or agencies listed in Section 879, in not required in this case.  

Staff has reviewed this application and it may move forward without affecting either the City’s 
Financial Plan or Waste Management Plan.  

  

SSuubbjjeecctt  

PPrrooppeerrttiieess  

SOPA  

Square 

Development 

Site  

10



Z13-0021 & OCP13-0013 – Page 8 

 
 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Policy 5.11.3 Preferred Parking. Encourage preferred (e.g. close to entrances) or dedicated 
parking stalls for share cars and/or hybrid vehicles for all developments. 

 
Policy 5.40.1  Evaluation Checklist. Evaluate development applications that require an OCP 

amendment on the basis of the extent to which they comply with underlying 
OCP objectives, including the following: 

 

 Does the proposed development contribute to preserving lands with slopes greater than 
30%? N/A 

 Does the proposed development respect the OCP Permanent Growth Boundary (OCP Maps 
4.1 and 5.2)? Yes 

 Does the proposed development feature a mix of residential, employment, institutional, 
and/or recreational uses within individual buildings or larger development projects? No 

 Is the proposed development located in an Urban Centre? Yes 

 Does the proposed development increase the supply of affordable (as defined in the OCP) 
apartments or townhouses? No 

 Is the property serviced with water and City sanitary sewer at the time of application? Yes 

 Could the proposed project be built at no financial cost to the City? (This should consider 
operational and maintenance costs.) Yes 

 Would the proposed project help decrease the rate of travel by private automobile, 
especially during peak hours? No 

 Is there transit service within 400m of non-residential projects or major employment 
generators (50+ employees)? N/A 

 Does the proposed project involve redevelopment of currently under-utilized, urbanized 
land? No 

 Does the proposed project result in the creation of substantially more public open space 
than would be available if the development were not to proceed (not including required 
open space dedications or non-developable areas)? No 

 Is there a deficiency of properties within the applicable Sector (see Map 5.4) that already 
have the required OCP designation? No 

 Does the project avoid negative impacts (shadowing, traffic, etc.) on adjoining properties 
where those adjoining properties are not slated for land use changes? Yes 

 Is the project consistent with the height principles established in the OCP? N/A 

 If the project goes ahead, would surrounding property owners be likely to develop their 
properties as per OCP Future Land Use and other City policy provisions? Yes 

 Would the additional density or new land use designation enhance the surrounding 
neighbourhood in a way that the current land use designation does not? No 

 Could the project be supported without over-burdening existing park and other 
community resources or threatening the viability of existing neighbourhood resources? Yes 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

No concerns. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See attached. 

11



Z13-0021 & OCP13-0013 – Page 9 

 
 

6.3 Fire Department 

Ensure proper Fire Department access per the BC Building Code. 

6.4 RCMP 

From a Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) perspective, the RCMP 
supports this application as submitted. 

 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:   May 22, 2013  

Applicant Hosted Public Information Session: June 25, 2013 (see attached Summary) 

Supplementary/Revised Materials Received: June 11, 2013 
       June 28, 2013 

Report prepared by: 

     
Abigail Riley, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:    Danielle Noble, Manager, Urban Planning 

Approved for Inclusion  Doug Gilchrist, Director, Community Planning & Real Estate 
 

Attachments: 

Maps A1 & B1 
Subject Property Map 
Site Plan 
Landscape Plan 
Conceptual Renderings 
Co-op/Car Share Program - Conditions of Final Adoption 
Development Engineering Memorandum 
Neighbourhood Consultation Summary Report 

12



3100

3061

3095

3075

423411 417409

420414

470460434 458448

3032-3036

2986-3030

447 453 459

437431425

430426 442
GROVES
AVE

NEWSOM AVE

GROVES AVE

KLO RD

PA
ND

OS
Y S

T

CEDAR AVE

¯

MAP "A1" OCP AMENDMENT
Multiple Unit Residential (Medium Density)
Mixed Use (Residential / Commercial)
Subject Properties
MRM to MXR
Legal Parcel

OCP13-0013

This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its
accuracy. All information should be verified.

Rev. Jun 21, 2013
0 2010 Metres

Amend the OCP for the Subject Properties from
Multiple Unit Residential (Medium Density) (MRM)
to Mixed Use (Residential/Commercial) (MXR).

Subject Properties Notes:

13



RU1 C4
NEWSOM AVE

GROVES AVE

KLO RD

PA
ND

OS
Y S

T

CEDAR AVE

2949

2955
2940-2950

3100

3061

3095

3075

423411 417409

420414

470460434 458448424

3032-3036434-436

2986-3030

441 447 453 459

437431425

430426 442

¯

This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its
accuracy. All information should be verified.

MAP "B1" PROPOSED ZONING

Rev. Jun 21, 2013

Legal Parcel
Subject Properties
RU1 to C4

File #Z13-0013

0 2010 Metres

Rezone the subject property from
RU6 Two Dwelling Housing to
RM3 Low Density Multiple Housing.

Subject Property Notes:

Rezone the subject property from
RU6 Two Dwelling Housing to
RM5 Medium Density Multiple Housing.

Subject Property Notes:

Rezone subject properties from
RU1 Large Lot Housing to
C4 Urban Centre Commercial.

Subject Properties Notes:

14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



Report to Council 
 

Date: 

 
July 5, 2013 
 

Rim: 
 

1110-61-015 

To:  
 

City Manager  
 

From: 
 

Derek Edstrom, A. Director, Real Estate & Property Services 

Subject: 
 

Road Closure and Sale Adjacent to 459 Groves Ave & 437/442 Newsom Ave 

 Report Prepared by: Johannes Saufferer, Property Officer 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the Report from the Acting Director, Real Estate & 
Property Services dated July 5, 2013, recommending that Council adopt the proposed closure 
of a portion of 459 Groves Avenue and 437/442 Newsom Avenue; 
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 10866, being proposed road closure of a portion of Groves Avenue and 
Newsom Avenue, be forwarded for reading consideration. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To close a portion of road (laneway) in the vicinity of 459 Groves Avenue and 437/442 
Newsom Avenue for sale to, and consolidation with, the adjacent properties. 
 
Background: 
 
The proposed road closure will be consolidated with the adjacent properties to facilitate the 
development of an at-grade surface parking lot. 
 
City of Kelowna and various third-party utilities within the road closure area will be protected 
by Statutory Right of Way as part of the road closure. 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 
Section 26 and 40, Community Charter 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Internal Circulation: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Personnel Implications: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 

26



City Manager 
July 5, 2013 
Page 2 of 2 Pages 

 

 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
In light of the above, the Real Estate & Property Services department request Council’s 

support of this road closure. 

 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
D. Edstrom, A. Director 
Real Estate & Property Services 
 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 M. Bayat, Director, Development Services for  

D. Gilchrist, Divisional Director, Community Planning &   
Real Estate 

 

  

27



Schedule ‘A’ 
 

 

 

28



29



 

30



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: June 28th, 2013 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Land Use Management, Community Sustainability (AW) 

Application: OCP13-0009 / Z13-0015 Owner: Interior Health Authority 

Address: 434, 442, 458 Royal Avenue Applicant: Interior Health Authority 

Subject: OCP Amendment, Rezoning & Heritage Alteration Permit Applications  

Existing OCP Designation: Single / Two Unit Residential  

Proposed OCP Designation: Educational / Major Institutional 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: P1 – Major Institutional 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP13-0009 to amend Map 4.1 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 by changing the Future Land Use 
designation of Lot A, D.L. 14, ODYD, District Plan 5742, located at 434 Royal Avenue, Lot 26, D.L. 
14, ODYD, District Plan 3393, located at 442 Royal Avenue and Lot 1, D.L. 14, ODYD, District Plan 
7535, located at 458 Royal Avenue from Single / Two Unit Residential to Educational / Major 
Institutional, as shown on Map “A” attached to the Report of the Land Use Management 
Department dated June 28th, 2013, be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT Council considers the applicant’s May 30th, 2013 Public Information Meeting to be 
appropriate consultation for the purpose of Section 879 of the Local Government Act, as outlined 
in the Report of the Land Use Management Department dated June 28th, 2013; 
 
AND THAT Rezoning Application No. Z13-0015 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by changing the zoning classification of Lot A, D.L. 14, ODYD, District Plan 5742, located at 
434 Royal Avenue, Lot 26, D.L. 14, ODYD, District Plan 3393, located at 442 Royal Avenue and Lot 
1, D.L. 14, ODYD, District Plan 7535, located at 458 Royal Avenue from RU1 – Large Lot Housing 
to P1 – Major Institutional be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT the Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment and the Zone Amending Bylaw be 
forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 
 

31



OCP13-0009 / Z13-0015– Page 2 

 
 

AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction with Council's 
consideration of a Heritage Alteration Permit on the subject properties; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being completed to their satisfaction; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to completion of 
a Purchase / Sale Agreement with the City for the lane that runs N/S between 458 and 442 Royal 
Avenue; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
submission of a plan of subdivision to consolidate the properties; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
registration of a No-Build covenant on the subject properties; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
satisfaction of Fortis BC’s request for a Statutory Right of Way. 

2.0 Purpose  

To amend the Official Community Plan Future Land Use Designation from Single / Two Unit 
Residential to Educational / Major Institutional and to rezone the subject properties from RU1 – 
Large Lot Housing to the P1 – Major Institutional zone to accommodate the proposed surface 
parking lot in support of the KGH Emergency Centre. 

3.0 Land Use Management  

The subject properties are located within the Abbott Street Heritage Conservation area and the 
property located at 434 Royal Avenue is listed on the City’s Heritage Register (see attached 
Heritage Register information). The 2030 Official Community Plan specifically designated a 
Health District Area across Pandosy Street from the Kelowna General Hospital to accommodate 
hospital related uses. The intent was to allow health services adjacent to the hospital but it was 
clear that they were not meant to encroach into the Heritage Conservation Area. However, when 
the Centennial Building was designed the Emergency Department was located directly on Royal 
Avenue without providing sufficient parking. The building’s significant massing and limited 
setback along Royal Avenue also created a difficult transition to the single family dwellings 
located on the north side of Royal Avenue directly across from the hospital. These two factors 
have put pressure on the subject properties and from a strict policy perspective, parking outside 
of the KGH campus and within the Heritage Conservation Area does not align with current the 
policy framework. There is also concern that encroaching into the existing single family 
neighbourhood may lead to further development speculation along Royal Avenue.  
 
However, the Interior Health Authority has made it clear that in order for the Emergency 
Department to function as designed, additional parking is required. It is also important to 
recognize that the KGH campus is a regional health facility that provides critical health services 
and it is crucial that all facets of the hospital operate at full capacity. Additionally, providing a 
surface parking lot in support of the Emergency Department may help alleviate some of the 
parking spill-over that continues to create challenges in the surrounding neighborhood.  
 

32



OCP13-0009 / Z13-0015– Page 3 

 
 

Staff has encouraged the applicant to consider undertaking a Heritage Revitalization Agreement 
to preserve the remaining heritage register listed home in exchange for allowing the building to 
be used for Health Services. The applicant has indicated that the properties were purchased in an 
attempt to provide additional parking and that the building will be relocated if possible or 
demolished (see applicant’s Heritage Alteration Permit rationale). From a design perspective 
Staff has indicated that a very high design standard is expected in order to provide as sensitive a 
transition as possible to the abutting residential neighbourhood. This would include very high 
quality finishing materials including lighting, fencing, landscape buffering and a surface 
treatment that is not a conventional asphalt surface parking lot. Accordingly, Staff will be 
hesitant supporting any variances to the landscaping requirements and will continue to work with 
the Interior Health Authority on these details. The total number of parking stalls proposed may 
need to be reduced in order to achieve the landscaping and design quality expected of the 
proposal.  
 
In summary, although Staff is supportive of ensuring the successful operation of KHG, the 
Hospital Campus should have been comprehensively planned so that the adjacent residential 
properties and Heritage Conservation Area were not negatively impacted. However, it is 
recognized that the hospital is an important regional facility and an efficient emergency centre is 
a crucial regional planning objective. As part of this process a No Build covenant will be 
registered against the subject properties to ensure that no further hospital building expansion 
occurs outside of the KGH campus.  

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The Interior Health Authority has purchased the three subject properties with the intent of 
building a surface parking lot in support of the Kelowna General Hospital Campus. The proposal 
shows a total of 91 surface parking stalls with landscape buffers of varying widths around the 
perimeter of the property. It is important to note that the east, west and north landscape buffers 
conform to the Zoning Bylaw landscape buffer requirements but that the southern buffer 
adjacent to Royal Avenue is only 0.3m where 3.0m is required.  

The site will be hooked across the street with the KGH campus, although the KGH campus is 
zoned HD1–Kelowna General Hospital the proposed parking lot will be zoned P1 – Major 
Institutional as it is a major government use that isn’t intended to accommodate any further KGH 
expansion beyond the proposed surface parking. The Interior Health Authority undertook an 
extensive public consultation process to engage and better understand the neighbourhood’s 
position towards to the parking lot expansion, a summary of this process is attached at the end of 
this report. As part of the application process, the Community Heritage Committee reviewed the 
application and were concerned that the proposal is “fundamentally in conflict with the basic 
principles of a heritage conservation area and in particular with the development guidelines for 
this Heritage Conservation Area.”  

If supported by Council, IHA will be urbanizing the north side of Royal Avenue from Long Street to 
Pandosy Street which is a previous commitment that will be brought forward with this project. 
Additionally, the existing lane that runs N/S between 458 and 442 Royal Avenue would be closed, 
sold to IHA and consolidated with the subject properties.   

 

 

 

33



OCP13-0009 / Z13-0015– Page 4 

 
 

The project compares to Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA P1 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

 

Parking setbacks 

North - 2.0m 
South – 1.5m 
East – 1.5m 
West – 1.5m 

North – 2.01m 

South – 0.3m* 

East – 3.0m 
West – 3.0m 

Landscape Buffers 

North – 3.0m or Opaque Fence 
South – 3.0m  
East – 3.0m 
West – 3.0m 

North - 2.01m & Opaque Fence 
South - 0.3m* 
East – 3.0m 
West – 3.0m 

Landscape Island Area 182m² 38.66m² * 

Fence Height 2.0m 3.1m* 

* Vary required front yard parking setback from 2.0m required to 0.3m proposed. 

* Vary front yard landscape buffer from 3.0m required to 0.3m proposed. 

* Vary landscape island area from 182m² required to 38.66m² proposed. 

* Vary the height of the proposed fence from 2.0m permitted to 3.1m proposed. 

4.2 Site Context 

The subject properties are located along Royal Avenue in the Heritage Conservation area directly 
across from the Kelowna General Hospital.    

Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residential 

East RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residential 

South HD1 – Kelowna General Hospital                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         Kelowna General Hospital                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
West RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residential 

 

Subject Property Map: 
 

34



OCP13-0009 / Z13-0015– Page 5 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

Staff recommends that the applicant’s April 16th, May 16th and May 30th, 2013 Public Information 
Meetings be considered appropriate consultation for the purpose of Section 879 of the Local 
Government Act, and that the process is sufficiently early and does not need to be further 
ongoing in this case. Furthermore, additional consultation with the Regional District of Central 
Okanagan is not required in this case. 
 
Staff have reviewed this application, and it may move forward without affecting either the City’s 
Financial Plan or Waste Management Plan. 
 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan 2030 (OCP)  

5.1.1 Heritage Conservation Area Guidelines (Chapter 18) 1  

 Maintain the residential and historical character of the Marshall Street and the Abbott 
Street Heritage Conservation Areas; 

 Encourage new development, additions and renovations to existing development which 
are compatible with the form and character of the existing context; 

 Ensure that change to buildings and streetscapes will be undertaken in ways which offer 
continuity of the ‘sense-of-place’ for neighbours, the broader community; and 

 Provide historical interest for visitors through context sensitive development. 
 
Objective 5.32  Ensure the development of institutional facilities meets the needs of 
residents. 
 
Policy .9 Health Care Facilities. Support the extension of services and appropriate building 
expansions of the Kelowna General Hospital and other health care facilities, as provided for on 
the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. The form and character of future expansions should be 
compatible with the surrounding neighbourhood context. 
 
Objective 5.40   Ensure all development is consistent with the vision, goals and objectives of 
the OCP. 
 
Policy 1 Evaluation Checklist. Evaluate development applications that require an OCP 
amendment on the basis of the extent to which they comply with underlying OCP objectives, 
including the following: 

 Does the proposed development contribute to preserving lands with slopes greater than 
30%? N/A 

 Does the proposed development respect the OCP Permanent Growth Boundary (OCP Map 
4.1 and 5.2)? Yes 

 Does the proposed development feature a mix of residential, employment, institutional, 
and/or recreational uses within individual buildings or larger development projects? 

 Is the proposed development located in an Urban Centre? No 

 Does the proposed development increase the supply of affordable (as defined in the OCP) 
apartments or townhouses? No 

 Is the property serviced with water and City sanitary sewer at the time of application? Yes 

 Could the proposed project be built at no financial cost to the City? (This should consider 
operational and maintenance costs.) Yes 

                                                      
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 16 

35



OCP13-0009 / Z13-0015– Page 6 

 
 

 Would the proposed project help decrease the rate of travel by private automobile, 
especially during peak hours? No 

 Is there transit service within 400 metres of non-residential projects or major employment 
generators (50+ employees)? Yes 

 Does the proposed project involve redevelopment of currently under-utilized, urbanized 
land? No 

 Does the proposed project result in the creation of substantially more public open space 
than would be available if the development were not to proceed (not including required 
open space dedications or non-developable areas)? No 

 Is there a deficiency of properties within the applicable Sector (see Map 5.4) that already 
have the required OCP designation? No 

 Does the project avoid negative impacts (shadowing, traffic, etc.) on adjoining properties 
where those adjoining properties are not slated for land use changes? No 

 Is the project consistent with the height principles established in the OCP? N/A 

 If the project goes ahead, would surrounding property owners be likely to develop their 
properties as per OCP Future Land Use and other City policy provisions? TBD 

 Would the additional density or new land use designation enhance the surrounding 
neighbourhood in a way that the current land use designation does not? No 

 Could the project be supported without over-burdening existing park and other 
community resources or threatening the viability of existing neighbourhood resources? Yes 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

Building Permit required for a parking lot, Civil drawings providing drainage requirements 
required at time of permit application 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See Attached. 

6.3 Fire Department 

No comment provided. 

6.4 Fortis BC - Gas 

See Attached. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: March 20th, 2013 
Community Heritage Committee: May 2nd, 2013 
 
The following motion was passed by the Community Heritage Committee: 
 

THAT the Community Heritage Committee considers that this proposal to demolish 
residential heritage houses, consolidate the lots, and change the usage of land from 
residential to commercial is fundamentally in conflict with the basic principles of a 
heritage conservation area and in particular with the development guidelines for this 
Heritage Conservation Area; 
 

36



OCP13-0009 / Z13-0015– Page 7 

 
 

AND THAT the Community Heritage Committee is aware that Council have already 
recognized that there are special circumstances on the east end of Royal Avenue which is 
in effect a transition zone between the Hospital Campus and the Heritage Conservation 
Area and have instructed staff to investigate; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Community Heritage Committee declines to make a formal 
recommendation at this time and defers this application to Council. 

 
Public Information Meetings:  April 16th, 2013, May 15th, 2013 & May 30th, 2013 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Alec Warrender, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:   Danielle Noble, Manager, Urban Land Use 
 

Approved Inclusion:  D. Gilchrist, Community Planning & Real Estate Divisional Director 

Attachments: 

Map A 
Subject Property Map 
Site Plan  
Landscape Plans 
Heritage Register Information 
Images - 434 Royal Avenue  
Interior Health HAP Rationale 
Development Engineering Requirements 
Neighbourhood Consultation Summary 
 
 

37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



Report to Council 
 

Date: 

 
July 5, 2013 
 

Rim No.: 
 

0913-20-128 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

D. Edstrom, Acting Director, Real Estate & Property Services 

Subject: 
 

Proposed Royal Avenue Road Closure and Transfer to Interior Health Authority 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives for information, the Report from the Acting Director, Real Estate & 
Property Services dated July 5, 2013, recommending that Council adopt the proposed road 
closure of a portion of road between 442 Royal Avenue and 458 Royal Avenue (Schedule ‘A’); 
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 10845, being proposed road closure of a portion of road between 442 
Royal Avenue and 458 Royal Avenue, be given reading consideration. 
 
Purpose:  
 
The excess closed road is to be consolidated with the properties between 442 Royal Avenue 
and 458 Royal Avenue to consolidate into one contiguous parcel consisting of 434, 442 and 458 
Royal Avenue, along with the road closure area, for the purpose of a parking lot. 
 
Background: 
 
With the completion of the Kelowna General Hospital expansion, the Interior Health Authority 
wishes to construct a paved parking lot opposite the Emergency Ward located on Royal 
Avenue. The properties at 434, 442 and 458 Royal Avenue were purchased by the Interior 
Health Authority to facilitate the development of the parking lot; the proposed road closure, 
which runs between 442 Royal Avenue and 458 Royal Avenue, is necessary to create one 
contiguous parcel (as shown in Schedule ‘A’). 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 
Section 26 and 40, Community Charter 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Internal Circulation: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 

66



City Manager 
July 5, 2013 
Page 2 of 3 Pages 

 

 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Derek Edstrom, Acting Director, 
Real Estate & Property Services 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:               M. Bayat, Director, Development Services for  

D. Gilchrist, Divisional Director, Community Planning &   
Real Estate 

 
  

  

67



City Manager 
July 5, 2013 
Page 3 of 3 Pages 

 

 
Schedule ‘A’ 

 

 

68


	Agenda
	3.1 Z13-0021 SOPA Sqr - Council Report.docx
	Back to Agenda

	3.1 Z13-0021 Attachments.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	3.1 Road Closure Bylaw 10866 - SOPA Road Closure Sale - July 15.docx
	Back to Agenda

	3.1 Schedule A.docx
	Back to Agenda

	3.2 OCP13-0009 Z13-0015_Council.docx
	Back to Agenda

	3.2 OCP13-0009 Z13-0015 attachments.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	3.2 Road Closure Bylaw 10845 - Royal Avenue - July 15.docx
	Back to Agenda


